2018

**CHARLIE W. HARRISON and TRENA HARRISON, Plaintiffs/
Appellants, vs. SPAH FAMILY, LTD; STAN E. HOLLAND; and PAIGE
HOLLAND, Defendants/Appellees. : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs/Appellants Charlie W. Harrison and Trena Harrison (the “Harrisons”) appeal from the final Order and Judgment by the Seventh Judicial District Court for Grand County, State of Utah, quieting title, in Defendants/Appellees Spah Family, Ltd., Stan Holland and Page Holland (collectively the “Hollands”), to a 40-foot-wide easement by prescription across land owned by the Harrisons. The Order and Judgment, entered June 11, 2018, incorporate the trial court’s July 28, 2017 summary judgment ruling that, as a matter of law, the Hollands had satisfied all elements of an easement by prescription across the Harrisons’ property—the only issue for trial to the jury being the location and scope of the easement.¹ A copy of the court’s June 11, 2018 Order and Judgment (R. 1285-89) is included in the Appendix as Attachment 1; a copy of the court’s July 28, 2017 Order on Motions for Summary Judgment (R. 521-24) is included in the Appendix as Attachment 2.

The facts before the trial court, however, demonstrated that the Hollands’ claim to a prescriptive easement fails. The Hollands’ use of the road across the Harrisons’ property was not open, adverse and uninterrupted for the prescriptive period. Use was initially permissive, and never shown to have become adverse.

¹ The Hollands also asserted a claim for damage to two gates on their property. The jury returned a verdict of only \$300 on this claim, and no appeal was taken therefrom.

Before the 20-year prescriptive period expired, the Harrisons challenged the Hollands' use of the road and summoned law enforcement to prevent them from using the road.

Even if the Hollands were able to demonstrate prescriptive use by clear and convincing evidence, they offered no competent evidence of its historic course and scope. Due to improper instruction though, the jury imposed a 40-foot easement on the Harrisons' property along a centerline established by a 2016 survey of the road existing at that time – a burden on the Harrison property which had never existed. In fact, the width of the historical use of the road was 8 feet.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should remand this case for entry of judgment in favor of the Harrisons, or for a retrial.

JURISDICTIONAL BASIS FOR APPEAL

This is an appeal from final orders and the judgment of the Seventh Judicial District Court for Grand County. The Utah Supreme Court retained jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in ruling on summary judgment that the Hollands had met all the elements necessary to establish an easement by prescription and specifically, whether the Hollands made continuous, adverse and uninterrupted use of the Harrisons' property for a period of 20 years or more, even

though the Harrisons summoned law enforcement which interrupted the prescriptive period and caused a revocation of the Harrisons' acquiescence. (Preserved at R. 262-281, 564-576, 604-610, 1320-1368, 1389.) Review of orders granting summary judgment are reviewed for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court's ruling. *Federal Capital Corp. v. Libby*, 2016 UT 41, ¶ 7, 384 P.3d 221. All facts and resulting inferences drawn therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Robinson v. Jones Waldo Holbrook & McDonough, PC*, 2016 UT App 34, ¶ 11, 369 P.3d 119.

2. Whether the trial court erred in holding, as a matter of law on summary judgment, that the Hollands' use of the Harrisons' property was adverse, even though their predecessors-in-interest used the road with the express permission from the developer for a limited purpose, and even though no conversion to an adverse use was shown. (Preserved at R. 262-281, 564-576, 604-610, 1320-1368.) Review of orders granting summary judgment are reviewed for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court's ruling. *Libby*, 2016 UT 41, ¶ 7. All facts and resulting inferences drawn therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Robinson*, 2016 UT App 34, ¶ 11.

3. Whether the trial court improperly failed to instruct the jury that the course and scope of the prescriptive easement is measured and limited by the historic use thereof. (Preserved at R. 930, 1748-1750.) Jury instructions, being

statements of applicable law, are reviewed for correctness, affording the trial court no deference. *Green v. Louder*, 2001 UT 62, ¶ 14, 29 P.3d 638; *Child v. Gonda*, 972 P.2d 425, 429 (Utah 1998).

4. Whether the trial court improperly admitted evidence from the Hollands' retained expert, Lucas Blake, that the centerline of the easement by prescription could be estimated by using the centerline of the broadened and altered roadway as it existed in 2016. (Preserved at R. 690-700, 811-820.) A trial court's decision on the admissibility of expert testimony is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Holm*, 2006 UT 31, ¶ 10, 137 P.3d 726.

5. Whether the trial court improperly excluded rebuttal evidence from the Harrisons' retained expert, Bradley Bunker, regarding the shortcomings of the survey prepared by Lucas Blake, notwithstanding Mr. Blake's failure to (1) consult historic data concerning use of the roadway crossing the Harrisons' property at any time before the autumn of 2016, and (2) locate a centerline of the roadway from historic data rather than from measuring to the centerline of the road existing in 2016, which had been widened by the Hollands at that time. (Preserved at R. 1821-1823, 1827-1834.²) A trial court's decision to exclude expert testimony is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Holm*, 2006 UT 31, ¶ 10.

² The Approved Statement of Proceedings as to Which Transcript is Unavailable, issued January 10, 2019, is included in the Appendix as Attachment 3. This Court granted the

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of Facts and Marshaling of Evidence ³

A. Property Ownership

1. The Harrisons are owners in fee simple of a parcel of real property located at 639 Spotlight Hollow Road, Castle Valley, Utah, more particularly described as follows:

SE1/4NE1/4SW1/4, LESS the West 66.0 feet of the SE1/4NE1/4SW1/4, Section 35, T25S, R24E, SLBM. (Also known as Parcel "H" on the plat recorded as an attachment to the Restrictive Covenants recorded 11/17/1994 in Book 470 at Page 244.)

TOGETHER with a right-of-way for ingress and egress over an existing road across the N1/2SW1/4 OF Section 35, T25S R24E, SLBM, said road runs from the N line of the N1/2SW1/4 to the S line of the N1/2 SW1/4 and provides access to the S1/2SW1/4 of Section 35, T25S, R24E, SLM

TOGETHER with a 20 foot easement on the North boundary of Parcel G and any other access rights which may (sic) established by the Plat recorded as an attachment to the Restrictive Covenants recorded 11/17/1994 in Book 470 at Page 244.

Amended Complaint, ¶ 10 (R. 10); Answer and Counterclaim, ¶ 2 (R. 19).

The Harrisons' property was designated Parcel H on the plat map of a subdivision known as Willow Basin Subdivision, created by Janice Hawley incident to

Harrisons' motion to supplement the record, filed pursuant to Rule 11(h) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, on February 6, 2019. *See* Order.

³ The majority of the Harrisons' assignments of error herein go to the court's rulings on dispositive motions and improper instruction of the jury, which, as noted above, are reviewable for correctness. Nevertheless, the Harrisons include herewith a marshaling of all evidence supporting the judgment below, to the extent presented at trial.

Restrictive Covenants recorded November 17, 1994 as Entry No. 432742, Book 470, Page 244, Grand County Recorder's Office. (R. 48, 186.)

2. On May 23, 2008, the Harrisons took title to Parcel H by Warranty Deed from Janice Hawley, which was recorded in the Grand County Recorder's Office as Entry No. 486320, Book 728, Page 588. Amended Complaint, ¶ 14 (R. 12); Answer and Counterclaim, ¶ 1 (R. 19).

3. Defendant/Appellee SPAH Family, Ltd. Partnership ("SPAH") holds title to a parcel of land immediately to the north of Parcel H, more particularly described as follows:

Beginning at the Center 1/4 Corner of Section 35, Township 25 South, Range 24 East, SLB&M, and proceeding thence with the Center 1/4 line South 0° 10' East 661.0 feet to a Corner, thence North 89° 51' West 589.0 feet to a Corner, thence North 0° 05' West 660.9 feet to a Corner, thence with the Center 1/4 line South 89° 51' East 588.0 feet to the point of beginning, Grand County, Utah.

TOGETHER with a non-exclusive easement for ingress and egress 20.0 feet on each side of the following described centerline: BEGINNING at a point which bears South 86° 34' East 1938.0 feet from the West 1/4 Corner Section 35, T25S, R24E, SLB&M, and proceeding thence with said centerline South 45° 00' East 161.2 feet, thence South 0° 05' East 436.2 feet to the terminus of this centerline description.

SUBJECT to a non-exclusive easement over and across the West 40.0 feet and also a 10 foot wide access easement to a spring that extends Northerly to the Northwesterly area from the roadway.

Subject to all restrictions, easements, and rights-of-way, however evidenced.

(R. 406-07.) On October 17, 1997, SPAH took title to the above-described property (designated on the official plat of Willow Basin Subdivision as “Parcel A”), by Special Warranty Deed from Stan Holland and Page Holland, which was recorded in the Grand County Recorder’s Office as Entry No. 442633, Book 509, Pages 427-428. Deposition of Stan Holland (“Holland Depo”) at 13:15-25 (R. 377) & Special Warranty Deed, attached to the Holland Depo as Exhibit 5 (R. 406-07).

4. Stan Holland and Page Holland had previously taken title to Parcel A by Warranty Deed from Manuel Torres and Ginger Torres dated August 9, 1996, recorded in the Grand County Recorder’s Office as Entry No. 437364, Book 490, Page 83. Holland Depo at 10:4-11 (R. 376) & Warranty Deed, attached to the Holland Depo as Exhibit 4 (R. 405).

5. Manuel Torres and Ginger Torres, the Hollands’ grantors, obtained title to Parcel H from Janice Hawley by Warranty Deed dated February 22, 1996, recorded in the Grand County Recorder’s Office as Entry No. 436016, Book 484, Page 103. Counterclaim, ¶ 8 (R. 21) & Warranty Deed (R. 50).

6. The relative positions of Parcels A and H in the Willow Basin Subdivision, together with illustrated easements, are shown on the plat map below:

7. In November of 1994 Keogh Land Surveying prepared a subdivision plat of Willow Basin subdivision at Janice Hawley's request. Hawley Decl., ¶ 3 (R. 310).

8. As illustrated by the above survey, the subdivision consisted of eight lots, each accessible by roads drawn within the subdivision, all as reflected on the recorded subdivision plat. *Id.*, ¶ 4 (R. 310).

9. It was always Ms. Hawley's intention that the lots within the subdivision be accessed by the road shown on the plat map. Hawley Decl., ¶ 5 (R. 310).

10. After all necessary government agencies had approved the Willow Basin subdivision, Janice Hawley retained Randy Day and Raymond Tibbets of Canyon Country Realty to list and market the lots. *Id.*, ¶ 6 (R. 310).

11. Janice Hawley then entered into an agreement with Manuel and Ginger Torres, under which she conveyed all of her right, title and interest in and to Parcel A of the subdivision to the Torreses in exchange for Manuel Torres' construction of a cabin for her on Parcel G, a property which she had retained. *Id.*, ¶ 7 (R. 310).

12. Ms. Hawley then became aware that, at some time before or after the summer of 1996, Canyon Country Realty or Keogh Land Surveying arranged for the grading of a narrow road connecting Parcel A with adjacent public roads by

means of a road looping over a portion of Parcel H, title to which she had retained. *Id.*, ¶ 8 (R. 310).

13. It was Ms. Hawley's understanding that the purpose of the road crossing Parcel H was not a permanent access to Parcel A, but a means of permitting the Torreses to take prospective purchasers to Parcel A for marketing the other parcels. *Id.*, ¶ 9 (R. 310).

14. While Ms. Hawley neither knew of nor authorized the creation of the road in advance, its use thereafter was for the purposes stated above, and was pursuant to permission from her. *Id.*, ¶ 10 (R. 311).

15. Randy Day of Canyon Country Realty recalled that the road was used by him and his company, with Janice Hawley's express permission. Deposition of Randy Day ("Day Depo") at 19:3-5; 32:19-33:25; 20:6 (R. 330, 333) & Exhibit 1 (R. 402).

C. Interruption of Consent to Use

16. The Hollands were not aware that there was property available for sale within the Willow Basin subdivision until shortly before August 9, 1996, the date on which they acquired title to Parcel A. Holland Depo at 10:12-23 (R. 376). The Hollands' alleged prescriptive use of any portion of the Harrisons' property, therefore, did not commence until August 9, 1996 or later. *Id.*

17. Charlie Harrison notified Stan Holland, well before August 2016 that he forbade the Hollands' use of the road across Parcel H as a means to access Parcel A. Charlie Harrison Declaration ("Harrison Decl."), ¶ 11 (R. 304).

18. Moreover, Page Holland contacted the Sheriff's Office on September 20, 2016 to report that Charlie Harrison "parked a Dozer in the driveway of the access road blocking their property." Sheriff's Report, p. 2 (R. 584).

19. The Sheriff's Report included a Voluntary Statement form, filled out by hand by Page Holland and signed under oath. *See* Sheriff's Report, pp. 4-10 (R. 586-92). The Voluntary Statement form contains the following representation by Defendant Page Holland, concerning, among other things, events in June of 2016:

Father's Day weekend (June 17, 18 or 19) Charlie Harrison and Stan Holland (my husband) argued about rights to an access road in Willow Basin. *Deputy Black called out – talked to both parties.* We received a written letter dated August 18 from Charlie Harrison's attorney (Jessica Wilde, Jones, Waldo & Holbrook) stating we had no right to use the small portion of the road accessing our cabin.

Sheriff's Report, Voluntary Statement Form (R. 586); emphasis added.

20. At trial, the Hollands offered the following evidence concerning the dispute over their use of the road across the Harrison Property:

a. The dispute over the Hollands' use of the road across the Harrison property commenced in "the summer of 2016." Trial Record ("TR") at 96:15-20 (R. 1521).

b. It arose on Father's Day 2016, when the Hollands were planning a family party on the Holland property. TR at 97:23-98:6 (R. 1522-23).

21. At trial the court prohibited the Harrisons' counsel from inquiring into the altercation of June 2016 between the parties over the Hollands' use of the road across the Harrisons' property. TR at 144:22-145:13 (R. 1569-70).

D. Course and Scope of Historic Use

22. At the time the Hollands acquired their interest in Parcel A in late 1996, the road traversing a portion of Parcel H (apparently placed for access to power utility poles) was one blade width, or eight feet, in width and, in places, was impassable without an off-road vehicle. Harrison Decl., ¶ 10 (R. 304); Day Depo at 18:25-19:2 (R. 290).

23. At trial, Mr. Day confirmed that at the time the Hollands acquired Parcel A, the road traversing Parcel H was one blade width, or eight feet, in width. TR at 229:23-230:30 (R. 1654-55).

24. At no point before or during trial did the Hollands adduce any testimony or other evidence whatsoever controverting the 8-foot width of the road in August of 1996. The Hollands offered only the following:

a. Page Holland testified that the road across the Harrison property, as it existed in 1996 when the Hollands acquired their property,

was a narrow, single-lane road, like others in the subdivision – though wide enough for her to drive a Jeep Cherokee pulling a tent trailer with her husband following in the pickup truck pulling a horse trailer. TR at 108:11-109:12 (R. 1533-34). The Hollands did not measure its width at the time. TR at 109:2-3 (R. 1534).

b. Stan Holland confirmed that, at the time the Hollands first acquired their property, he drove a truck and horse trailer over the road crossing the Harrison property. TR at 120:20-121:11 (R. 1545-46).

25. After acquiring their property, the Hollands built a cabin thereon, and ran construction and cement trucks over the road crossing the Harrison property. TR at 133:23-134:19 (R. 1558-59).

26. According to Stan Holland's trial testimony, the road across the Harrison property was leveled and widened by Charlie Harrison after the Harrisons' acquisition of the Harrison property in 2008. TR at 111:15-22 (R. 1536).

27. At trial, the Hollands' retained expert surveyor, Lucas Blake, testified that:

a. He was familiar with the Willow Basin Subdivision area because he had been hired by Page Holland to prepare a survey. TR at 150:14-25 (R. 1575).

b. At Page Holland's direction, he prepared a survey of the roadway across the Harrison property – as it existed in 2016 – which was introduced as Exhibit 3. TR at 150:23-151:8 (R. 1575-76).

c. The survey was prepared by “estimat[ing] the edge of the dirt road” which they “shot . . . coming up to the property, actually all the way up to the top” TR at 152:14-22 (R. 1577).

d. From this, Mr. Blake prepared a legal description consisting of the metes and bounds of the existing road at the time the survey was created. TR at 152:23-153:2 (R. 1577-78).

e. Mr. Blake could not testify as to a uniform width of the road, it being wider and narrower in various locations as illustrated on Exhibit 31. TR at 153:25-154:11 (R. 1578-79).

f. From his 2016 metes and bounds description, Mr. Blake worked backward to create a centerline. TR at 154:12-14 (R. 1579).

g. Page Holland first contacted Mr. Blake to perform the survey in October of 2016. TR at 156:13-21 (R. 1581).

28. In cross-examination, Mr. Blake acknowledged the following:

a. Prior to visiting the property in October of 2016 in response to Defendant Page Holland's request, Mr. Blake had never been to the property

(TR at 157:10-12 (R. 1582)); neither had he visited any other Willow Basin properties (TR at 157:13-15 (R. 1582));

b. Before preparing the survey admitted as Exhibit 31, Mr. Blake had done no other survey work on the properties at issue herein (TR at 158:22-25 (R. 1583)); and

c. In preparing his opinion, Mr. Blake had looked at no other documents or data indicating what the road might have looked like in years past, including historic photographs, prior surveys or any information at all as to where the road went or how large it was in 1996 (TR at 159:5-16 (R. 1584)).

Procedural History

The Harrisons filed this action before the Seventh Judicial District Court for Grand County, State of Utah, on September 15, 2016. In their Complaint the Harrisons sought a declaration that they were the owners of an express easement of access over property owned by the Hollands and servicing the Harrisons' property (owned to the south of the Holland property); they also sought a declaration that they owned their own property free and clear of any claim of right, title or interest

(including prescriptive easement rights) by the Hollands. (R. 1-5.) Finally, they sought damages and injunctive relief for trespass across their property. (R. 4.)⁴

The Hollands counterclaimed on September 25, 2016. They sought a declaration that they held prescriptive easement rights across an existing road on the Harrisons' property, for purposes of accessing their property to the north thereof; the Hollands also sought a declaration that the Harrisons had no rights (or limited rights) across the express easement passing over the Hollands' property. Finally, the Hollands claimed damages to two of their gates that blocked access to and from both the Hollands' and Harrisons' properties. (R. 19-32.)

On April 19, 2017, following completion of fact discovery, the Harrisons moved for partial summary judgment, seeking a declaration that, as a matter of law, they held express easement rights across the Hollands' property. (R. 173-222.) Shortly thereafter, on April 28, 2017, the Hollands moved for summary judgment on all claims asserted in their Counterclaim. (R. 223-49.)

A hearing was held on July 11, 2017. (R. 509-11.) By order dated July 28, 2017, the trial court ruled, as a matter of law, that:

- a. The Harrisons held good and marketable title in and to an express, nonexclusive easement for access, 40 feet in width, along the western border of the Hollands' property, as illustrated on the plat map

⁴ The Harrisons amended their Complaint on September 23, 2016, to make certain factual corrections in their claims. (R. 10-16).

recorded with the restrictive covenants applicable to the Willow Basin Subdivision on November 17, 1994, and were entitled to make all reasonable use of that easement for access to and from their own property; and

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