#### **Brigham Young University Law School**

#### **BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

## Charlie W. Harrison and Trena Harrison, Appellants, v. Spah Family Ltd., Stan E. Holland, and Page Holland, Appellees: Brief of **Appellee**

**Utah Supreme Court**

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

Instead, it confirms that the use is adverse. Even if the argument concerning interruption were preserved, this court should affirm.

# 1.1.3 The record does not indicate that the Harrisons took overt action clearly evincing an intent to end their acquiescence

Even if this court were to reach the issue and adopt the rule urged by the Harrisons that an oral objection "clearly evincing an intent to end . . . acquiescence" should be deemed to interrupt a claimant's use [Op. Br. at 38], the record does not indicate that the Harrisons made such an objection.

The Harrisons base their argument on Ms. Holland's police statement, which said: "Charlie Harrison and Stan Holland (my husband) argued about rights to an access road in Willow Basin. Deputy Black called out – talked to both parties." [R.586.] The only evidence this provides concerning the Harrisons' conduct is that Mr. Harrison "argued" about "an access road." [R.586.]

21

In their briefing, the Harrisons state that "the Harrisons . . . summoned law enforcement to prevent Hollands' use of the road" and that "[b]ased on Page Holland's account in the Sheriff's Report, it is clear that in June 2016 . . . Charlie Harrison and Stan Holland had a confrontation on the property in which Mr. Harrison challenged Mr. Holland's use of the road." [Op. Br. at 23, 34.] But Ms. Holland did not state that the Harrisons summoned law enforcement to prevent the Hollands' use of the road; she did not identify who summoned law enforcement or the road about which the parties argued. [R.586.]

Without any support, the Harrisons assert that "the Harrisons timely challenged the Hollands' continued trespass onto the Harrison parcel for any purpose by notifying Hollands that Harrisons did not acquiescence in that use and calling the Grand County Sheriff's office to remedy the situation." [Op. Br. at 57.] The Harrisons suggest that based on Ms. Holland's police statement, "As of June 2016, there could be no doubt that the Harrisons did not acquiescence in the Hollands' continued use of the Harrisons' property." [Op. Br. at 39.] But Ms. Holland's police statement that the parties "argued" about an access road does not support the Hollands' characterization, and the Harrisons do not point to any other record support. [R.586.]

Mr. Harrison was a party to the June 2016 discussion. But Mr. Harrison provided no account of that conversation. Mr. Holland testified about the June 2016 discussion in his deposition, explaining that the discussion was about

Mr. Harrison's threatening to knock down the Hollands' pump house in order to widen the road on the Hollands' parcel to the full 40 feet designated on the plat map. [R.751.] In other words, the discussion was about the Harrisons' express easement over the Hollands' parcel; it was not about the easement at issue on appeal—the Hollands' easement over the Harrisons' parcel. [R.598,751.]

Ms. Holland's secondhand police statement does not contradict Mr. Holland's deposition testimony or create a disputed issue of fact. She testified that the two men argued about "an access road in Willow Basin" and "Deputy Black called out—talked to both parties." [R.586.] Thus, the trial court was presented with undisputed testimony from the Hollands that the discussion in June 2016 was about the road on the Hollands' parcel, not on the Harrisons' parcel.

This court has three ways to affirm. This court should not address whether the June 2016 discussion interrupted the prescriptive period because the issue is not properly before the court. If the court does address it, the court should adopt the majority rule that supports the Hollands' position that verbal discussions do not interrupt the period. And if the court does not adopt the majority rule, the court should hold that the record does not support a verbal interruption here.

#### 1.2 The Hollands' use of the road was adverse

The Harrisons also argue that the Hollands' use of the road was not adverse based on a temporary limited permission that Janice (the prior owner of

the Harrisons' parcel) gave to Torres (the prior owner of the Hollands' parcel) [Op. Br. at 43; R.310-11.] This argument, while preserved, also fails.

Regardless of whether Torres' use was permissive, the undisputed evidence demonstrates that the Hollands' use was adverse from the day they acquired title because their use was inconsistent with the permission granted by Janice to Torres. Where a landowner has given license for the property's use, and the licensee's use is consistent with that license, the use will not be presumed to be adverse. *Lunt v. Kitchens*, 260 P.2d 535, 537–38 (Utah 1953). But adverse use can be demonstrated by showing a use that is inconsistent with the license. *Id.*Where "the use is in fact adverse and appears to be so, that is all that is required" to demonstrate adverse use. *Richins v. Struhs*, 412 P.2d 314, 316 (Utah 1966).

Here, Janice gave Torres permission to use the road "not as permanent access to Parcel A," but "to take prospective purchasers to the property for marketing purposes." [R.310-11.] While the Harrisons concede that Janice gave Torres permission only "for the use specified," they nonetheless assert that the Harrisons' general use of the road was permissive while Janice owned the parcel. [Op. Br. at 43.] But the "use specified" was for Torres to "take prospective purchasers to the property for marketing purposes," a use that ended as soon as Torres sold his parcel to the Hollands. [R.310-11.]

The Harrisons assert that "[t]he Hollands made no showing whatsoever of a point in time at which their permitted use of a limited temporary access road

became adverse, as required by governing case law." [Op Br. at 43.] But the Hollands' use of the road for permanent access to their parcel is a use Janice never intended or permitted. [R.310-11.] The Hollands' use was adverse from the day they acquired title on August 9, 1996.

After closing on August 9, 1996, the Hollands used the road to pull a four-horse trailer to their parcel and set up camp. [R.197,226,1370.] The Hollands continued using the road "all the time from then on," including driving the road with a Jeep, a Lincoln, trucks, campers, and trailers. [R.197-99,203,226,363,368, 1370.] They also maintained the road by adding gravel and water berms, as if they had a right to continue using it. [R.199.] Indeed, the Hollands thought they had a right to use the road. The realtor who took them to the parcel showed them a plat map with the road penciled in, and they understood from Torres that their parcel cost more than other parcels because of the road. [R.195,197.]

Janice knew when the Hollands purchased the parcel and was aware that they were using the road. [R.197-98.] It would have been obvious to Janice from August 9, 1996, onward that the Hollands were using the road for a purpose she had not authorized. Janice could have ended the Hollands' use, but never did. Neither did the Harrisons once they purchased the property until expiration of the 20-year period. The Hollands' use was inconsistent with Janice's permission from the beginning and therefore was both "adverse" and "appeared to be

[adverse]," which satisfies the test for adverse use for a prescriptive easement. *Richins*, 412 P.2d at 316.

The trial court correctly ruled that the Hollands' use was adverse.

#### 2. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Instructing the Jury

The Harrisons also challenge the jury's determination of the scope of the easement based upon the wording of a jury instruction. The challenged instruction, Instruction No. 27, states:

You should determine what is reasonably necessary, from the facts and circumstances of this case, for SPAH and the Hollands to access their property, taking into account the historic use and shape of the road during its 20 years of use. You may express your decision in terms of the survey, or by determining the width of the easement.

[R.1085; Op. Br. at 47.] On appeal, the Harrisons take issue with the "reasonably necessary" language in the instruction. [Op. Br. at 47-48.] But the Harrisons did not preserve this issue, and even if they had, the instruction is correct.

# 2.1 The Harrisons did not preserve their objection to the jury instruction

Before addressing the merits, the Hollands show that the jury instruction issue is not preserved and is inadequately briefed.

As background, after the parties submitted proposed instructions and objections, the court crafted Instruction No. 27. During a colloquy between the court and counsel discussing the instruction, the Harrisons' counsel reported that he was "[l]argely happy" with Instruction No. 27. [R.1749; Add.D.] Counsel

26

asked to have a sentence added to the instruction,<sup>4</sup> but counsel did not otherwise object to the instruction. [R.1749-51.]

But counsel did not just fail to object. When the trial court explained the instruction properly asked the jury to "tak[e] into account the historic use and shape of the road during its 20 years of use," the Harrisons counsel agreed that "it covers the substance of it," although counsel again requested the additional sentence. [R.1750.] Indeed, in objecting to a different proposed jury instruction (which was not given at trial), the Harrisons endorsed the "reasonably necessary" language by asserting that the proposed instruction "disregards recent law concerning the limitation of prescriptive easements to that *reasonably necessary for historic use.*" [R.1041 (emphasis added).]

Because the Harrisons did not preserve their objection to the jury instruction, and indeed invited any error, this court should decline to address the issue on appeal. *R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 10, 40 P.3d 1119.

In addition, this court should decline to address the argument because the Harrisons do not attempt to demonstrate that the "reasonably necessary" language is inconsistent with Utah law. Instead, the Harrisons assert that the language does not appear in Utah case law. But this is incorrect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Counsel requested that the court add the sentence, "The general rule is that the extent of a prescriptive easement is measured and limited by its historic use during the prescriptive period." [R.1749.]

In *Judd v. Bowen*, the Utah Court of Appeals noted that "the 'purpose for which the easement was acquired' limits both the extent of the easement right granted as well as the physical boundaries of the easement itself." 2017 UT App 56, ¶ 58, 397 P.3d 686 (quoting *Whitesides v. Green*, 44 P. 1032, 1033 (Utah 1896)). The court then used the language included in the instruction here: the scope of an easement is a "'question of reasonable necessity.'" *Id.* (quoting *Big Cottonwood Tanner Ditch Co. v. Moyle*, 174 P.2d 148, 158 (Utah 1946)). "And what is reasonably necessary to effectuate the prescriptive right 'must be determined from a consideration of the facts and circumstances peculiar to the case." *Id.* (quoting *Whitesides*, 44 P. at 1033).

The trial court's language does stem from Utah case law. And that case law has been endorsed by this court, albeit indirectly. The Harrisons fail to recognize this because they misunderstand *Judd*. The Harrisons claim that, in *Judd*, "the court of appeals reversed the trial court's finding and order as they related to the widths of the claimants' prescriptive rights, holding that 'these orders were inconsistent with the usage that forms the basis of the Judd's prescriptive right — using the Driveway for ingress and egress purposes.'" [Op. Br. at 46-47.]

But the court of appeals' decision did not concern the width of the prescriptive easement. Its decision concerned the trial court's order that the landowner remove a walkway and decorative border. *Id.* ¶ 64. The court of appeals held that "[t]hese orders are inconsistent with the usage that forms the

basis of the Judds' prescriptive right—using the Driveway for ingress and egress purposes" because "neither the walkway nor the decorative border impedes the Judds from using the Driveway for access purposes." *Id.* ¶ 65. The court of appeals went on to "vacate the [trial] court's orders that the Bowens remove the decorative rock border and the walkway as those orders do not appear to be reasonably necessary to the Judds' enjoyment of their access easement." *Id.* ¶ 69.

This court granted certiorari in *Judd v. Bowen* on the questions of "whether the court of appeals erred in its construction and application of the elements of the legal standard for establishing a prescriptive easement for access" and "whether the court of appeals erred in its ruling concerning the scope of the easement." *Judd v. Bowen*, 2018 UT 47, ¶ 8, 428 P.3d 1032. This court subsequently dismissed certiorari as improvidently granted because "the court of appeals' decision is not in conflict with any prior court of appeals decision or any decision of this court"; the court "relied upon well-established case law from both this court and the court of appeals"; its "decision did not alter or amend the standard"; and the court's "application of these principles was in conformity with Utah Supreme Court and court of appeals caselaw." *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 12-13. "Nothing the court of appeals did was unusual." *Id.* ¶¶ 13.

The trial court correctly relied upon the language in *Judd*. Regardless, the Harrisons have not explained how the language is inconsistent with Utah law, let

alone how *Judd* was wrongly decided. This court should decline to address the issue as unpreserved and inadequately briefed.

### 2.2 The jury instruction was correct

Instruction No. 27 is also correct. All parties agree that the scope of the easement is determined by historic use. And the jury instruction reflects the fact that the scope of the easement here was determined by its historic use.

Indeed, the Harrisons never explain the difference between Instruction No. 27 and the instruction they prefer. Instruction No. 27 defines the width of the easement as the width reasonably necessary to continue the historic use. The instruction the Harrisons prefer defines the width of the easement by the historic use. The Harrisons' argument is that the trial court erred in failing to use different words that mean the same thing.

Without explanation, the Harrisons complain that the instruction told the jury to disregard the evidence in support of the Harrisons' favored outcome. [Op. Br. at 47-48.] But the instruction told the jury to "determine what is reasonably necessary . . . for SPAH and the Hollands to access their property." [R.1085.] And the instruction told the jury to base that determination on "the facts and circumstances of the case . . . taking into account the historic use and shape of the road during its 20 years of use." [R.1085.] Accordingly, in addition to failing to show that the reasonably necessary standard is unsupported by Utah law, the Harrisons have also failed to show any legal error in the instruction.

The Harrisons also appear to misunderstand the facts of the case. The Harrisons state that "it was established . . . that, 20 years before this action started, the road across the Harrison parcel was a single blade, or 8 feet, in width." [Op. Br. at 47.] But the evidence established that, while the width of the dozer blade used to cut the road was eight feet, it takes "several cuts to get the road in." [R.1659-60.] The evidence also established that prior to the Hollands' beginning their use, a power pole had been placed on the Hollands' parcel, and placement of the pole would have required large power trucks to traverse the road to reach the site. [R.1592-97.]

In any event, the relevant question is not the width of the actual road, but the Hollands' historic use. The Hollands' "historic use" of the road was their use "during the prescriptive period," which was from 1996 to 2016. *Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998). Their historic use was using the road to access their parcel with their large vehicles, including the Jeep, truck, tent trailer, horse trailer, and fifth-wheel trailer, as well as the cement trucks, dump trucks, and bobtail trucks used to develop their property. [R.1527-28,1534,1545-46,1559, 1568.]

The Harrisons also wrongly assert that "[n]o competent evidence of any sort was offered of [the road's] original course." [Op. Br. at 47.] But again, the relevant question is the Hollands' historic use during the prescriptive period.

Ms. Holland testified that they had used the road on the Harrisons' parcel to

access their parcel from August 9, 1996 to the present, and that the road shown in post-2013 satellite images was "the road that has existed since we first went to the property." [R.1526-27,1530.] Mr. Blake surveyed the course of that road. [R.1576.] The Harrisons did not present evidence to contradict Ms. Holland's testimony or demonstrate that the course ever changed.

The Harrisons' argument is not preserved, fails to demonstrate an error, and mischaracterizes the record. And even if there were an error, the Harrisons have not carried their burden to show prejudice. This court should affirm.

### 3. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Allowing Testimony from the Hollands' Expert

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